A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court violated the appearance of fairness, the Code of

Judicial Conduct, and appellant's due process right to a fair and impartial

judge in denying appellant'smotions for recusal.

2. The court erred in imposing a sentence for count 9 that

exceeds the statutory maximum. CP 128, 129.

3. The court erred in imposing a sentence for count 8 that

exceeds the statutory maximum. CP 128, 129.

4. The court erred when it found appellant has the current or

future ability to pay legal financial obligations. CP 127.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. The appearance of fairness, the Code of Judicial Conduct,

and due process require a judge to recuse himself when a disinterested

person might reasonably question the judge's impartiality. Here, appellant

was accused of sex offenses against children, including acts against a male.

Where the Commission on Judicial Conduct had censured the trial judge

for biased remarks directed toward gays and where the judge repeatedly

expressed a personal emotional response to viewing the evidence in this

case, did the judge err in refusing to recuse himself?

2. Where the statutory maximum for the second degree child

molestation conviction under count 9 is 10 years, did the court exceed its
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statutory authority in imposing a 420 month exceptional sentence on that

count?

3. Where the statutory maximum for the second degree child

molestation conviction under count 8 is 10 years, did the court exceed its

statutory authority in sentencing appellant to a combined term of

confinement and community custody that exceeds the statutory maximum

for that count?

4. Did the court err when it found, absent an inquiry into the

appellant's individual circumstances, that he has the current or future

ability to pay legal financial obligations?

B. STATEMENT Or THE CASE

The State originally charged Michael Norris with four counts of

first degree child rape (counts 1, 2, 3, 5); two counts of second degree

child rape (counts 4, 12); one count of third degree child rape (count 13);

two counts of first degree child molestation (counts 5, 6); two counts of

second degree child molestation (counts 7, 8); and two counts of sexual

exploitation of a minor (counts 9, 10). CP 5 -7. The alleged victims were

a male and a female. CP 3 -4.

At a March 9, 2007 hearing, Norris requested the court remove his

current attorney, Jeffrey Barrar, and allow him the opportunity to hire
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Clayton Spencer as new counsel. RP (3/9/07) 34 -36. The Honorable

John Wulle denied his request to remove Barrar at that time but indicated

it would allow Norris to hire new counsel. RP (3/9/07) 36 -38, 50.

It was noted at the March 9 hearing that video evidence involving

both children existed. RP (3/9/07) 44. The judge expressed concern about

what child pornography may or may not be appropriate to show to a jury

or the public. RP (3/9/07) 45. The prosecutor suggested a closed court

proceeding where only jurors could view the video, referencing the same

procedure being used in the "Claussen" case over which the judge had

presided. RP (3/9/07) 49. The judge said he was sensitive to the fact that

a trial takes place in a public setting, "but I'm not going to be turning this

into a circus for viewing of child pornography, it's just not appropriate.

But I, again, I'm making that as a generalized human statement, not as a

decision or a ruling of the Court." RP (3/9/07) 50.

1
The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1 RP - one

volume consisting of 1/19/07, 4/13/07, 5/3/07, & 5/11/07; 2RP - one

volume consisting of 10/25/07, 11/8/07, 11/21/07 & 12/28/07; 3RP - one

volume consisting of 7/30/12 & 9/4/12. The verbatim report of
proceedings from the previous appeal under 37842 -6 -II, transferred to the
present appeal, are identified by hearing date and include: 9/26/06, 2/1/07,
3/9/07, 3/30/07, 4/19/07, 6/14/07, 7/13/07, 7/24/07, 8/7/07, 8/23/07,
8/24/07, 8/31/07, 9/13/07, 9/28/07, 11/1/07, 11/7/07, 11/29/07, 1/3/08,
1/25/08, 2/4/08 (two volumes), 2/13/08, 3/4/08, 4/8/08, 4/16/08, 4/21/08,
4/24/08.
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There was discussion about how much evidence the jury would be

allowed to see. RP (3/9/07) 44 -45, 49. The judge said if he was being

asked to limit what the jury sees, then "I guess at some point I'll have to ...

make that call" and preview the images. RP (3/9/07) 53. The judge

further remarked that he did not want to see the images. RP (3/9/07) 53.

The prosecutor placed on the record that he would seek an

exceptional sentence of life in prison. RP (3/9/07) 48. Defense counsel

indicated a jury trial would be waived on the alleged aggravators and that

the judge would be asked to determine the factual basis for any

exceptional sentence. RP (3/9/07) 50 -51.

At the March 30, 2007 hearing, the judge expressed concern that

jurors might violate federal law if they viewed the pornographic images.

RP (3/30/07) 74. He wondered "Are immunity issues involved? I mean,

I'd like -- I'd be interested in what the Department of Justice is saying from

the federal level, because the potential to expose -- I mean, even myself

sitting here looking at something that -- that -- that I consider to be highly

distasteful to me, personally, could put me in -- in a position of being in

violation of the law." RP (3/30/07) 75 -76.

Discussion turned to how to find a fair and impartial jury to try the

case. RP (3/30/07) 76 -78. The judge said "I have no problem bringing in

as many people as we need to finding a fair and impartial panel, and have
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a special questionnaire if that's what it takes, and find out what people's

sensitivities are. I mean, if someone is going to be so -- I was going to say

grossed out -- so deeply offended by the viewing of this, then maybe we

should be looking at it." RP (3/30/07) 78 -79. The court noted "I can tell

you, as I've told you in private, that I have no desire to see it, okay." RP

3/30/07) 80 (emphasis added). An off -the- record in chambers discussion

on the subject had apparently taken place by that time. RP (3/30/07) 70,

73, 80.

Further discussion involved how the courtroom could be set up to

allow the jury to view the pornographic evidence while shielding it from

public view and courtroom staff. RP (3/30/07) 81 -84. Defense counsel

referenced what he described as a "similar case back in the late 80's" that

raised the same issue. RP (3/30/07) 84. The judge asked if either attorney

had a problem with him talking to the judge who handled that previous

case. RP ( 3 /30/07) 84. Neither attorney objected. RP (3/30/07) 84.

Meanwhile, arrangements were made for Norris to view the video

evidence that the State planned to use at trial. RP (3/30/07) 63 -64. On

April 13, 2007, a record was made that Norris declined to view that

evidence. 1RP 10 -19. Norris's attorney, Barrar, described the evidence as

2

At the August 7, 2007 hearing, Judge Wulle confirmed he spoke with the
judge in the other case about the issue. RP (8/7/07) 263.
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explicit" and distasteful" and stated "The jury will find it so." 1RP 13.

Barrar wanted Norris to see it before he exercised his right to a jury trial.

1RP 13. The judge said he had bent over backwards to make

arrangements for Norris to view this evidence. 1RP 15. Norris explained

he was in the process of retaining Clayton Spencer as his attorney and was

advised that he did not have to view the evidence at this point. 1RP 15 -16.

Norris wanted to view the evidence at a future date. 1 RP 19. The judge

told him there would be no future date: "It's now or never; that's the simple

answer." 1RP 19. Norris responded his new attorney would have to deal

with that. 1RP 19. On April 9, 2007, the judge allowed Clayton Spencer

to substitute in as Norris's attorney. RP (4/9/07) 88.

On June 14, 2007, Norris moved for re- assignment of the trial

judge under "RCW 4.12." CP 318 -20. In support, Norris maintained:

a) Former counsel may have. made disparaging
comments about Norris in communicating with the judge
outside of Norris's presence;
b) In two prior court hearings, the judge referenced
and compared the factual or legal issues in Norris's case to
a prior case, suggesting the judge had prejudged Norris's
case;

c) In one hearing, the judge expressed his "distaste"
and "disgust" with child pornography and wished that he
did not have to view the evidence in this case;
d) In one hearing, the judge discussed his desire to
keep the viewing of all video or photographic evidence
from the public, to include the sound because of his
experience with a previous similar case, expressing
something to the effect that he will never forget that sound.

Br'm



CP 319 -20.

Norris acknowledged the judge had already made discretionary

rulings, but maintained he repeatedly asked his former counsel to file an

affidavit of prejudice and motion for reassignment earlier, only to be told

it would not matter because "any judge will treat you the same." CP 320.

The State argued Norris was not entitled to recusal of the judge as

a matter of right under RCW 4.12.050 because the judge had already made

discretionary rulings in the case. RP (6/14/07) 5 -7. The judge denied the

motion on the basis that he had already made discretionary rulings. RP

6/14/07) 11, 25, 27.

With reference to subparagraph "a" of Norris's motion, the judge

did not recall former counsel making disparaging comments about Norris

during any in- chambers meeting. RP (6/14/07) 13 -14.

With reference to subparagraph "c" of the motion, the judge

questioned whether he had actually used the words " distaste" and

disgust," but said "I will tell you that as a human being, I have no desire

to view child pornography. And I am not looking forward to being sitting

3
The State also initially argued the motion, insofar as it sought a change

of judge as a matter of right, was not made within 30 days of the trial date
and thus untimely under CrR 8.9. RP (6/14/07) 4 -6. The State backed off
on that allegation after defense counsel pointed out the trial date was more
than 30 days away. RP (6/14/07) 11; see CP 316 (setting trial date as
August 27, 2007).
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here viewing it. If, in fact, it is what is truly depicted. But I don't believe

I ever characterized it that way. And I'd also raise another point with you,

is that I'm not the fact finder in this case. It's going to be the jury that's the

fact finder. " RP (6/14/07) 15 -16. The judge continued, "the viewing of

child pornography, I don't believe I would be alone in the personal human

reaction to that." RP (6/14/07) 16. The judge reiterated, "I can honestly

say I'm not looking forward to that. I don't think most people would look

forward to viewing that." RP (6/14/07) 16 -17.

With reference to subparagraph "d" of the motion, the judge

acknowledged, "there's a certain amount of, I believe, truth in that." RP

6/14/07) 24. There was discussion about how to go about presenting that

information. RP (6/14/07) 24. As for similar cases, the judge recalled his

14 plus years as an assistant attorney general doing "a lot of child abuse

work," and there were certain cases that he would never forget. RP

6/14/07) 24 -25. He may even have expressed this to Norris. RP

6/14/07) 25. But he did not think it affected his ability to be fair and

impartial. RP (6/14/07) 25. According to the judge, "I believe that the

trier of fact, who we don't know who they're going to be yet, will in fact be

the deciding factor in this case." RP (6/14/07) 26. On the disparagement

issue, the court invited the defense to seek out additional information from



Norris's former attorney and bring the matter back before the court if so

desired. RP (6/14/07) 25 -26.

The prosecutor set forth his understanding that Norris had not

alleged actual prejudice, but that the court would allow briefing on the

issue. RP (6/14/07) 27. The judge said that was correct. RP (6/14/07) 28.

Defense counsel responded, "Just for the record, your Honor, there

is an affidavit of prejudice with a supporting declaration. I've articulated

for the Court that Mr. Norris believes the Court has made extrajudicial

statements in this case which bears upon this Court's ability to set [sic] and

to provide him a fair trial in this case. And to whit [sic], the Court is

somewhat prejudiced against him in the nature of the case in which he's

involved with. So that was provided in the declaration that he has. This

Court has gone through subparagraphs a, b, c, and d. You've indicated

that it does not affect your ability, you've indicated you're not the finder of

fact in this case. And so therefore, I think the Court has addressed that

issue as to prejudice." RP (6/14/07) 28 -29.

The judge replied, "I'm not trying to close the door. I'm leaving

the door open for you and your client if you feel there's actual prejudice, to

bring that to me, my attention." RP (6/14/07) 29.

On September 28, 2007, during the course of discussing the court's

ruling on access to the pornographic evidence, the judge commented "I'm
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not looking to put child pornography out on the streets, I'm not looking to

titillate anyone. I just don't even want to see it myself. I didn't ask for this

trial. I don't want to see these images. What little bit I've seen, to put a

point on it in language I knew from the streets of New York, it grossed me

out, okay ?" RP (9/28/07) 40 -41.

The State amended the information in October 2007, adding one

count of third degree child rape and alleging aggravating circumstances

for each count that (1) Norris used his position or status to facilitate the

commission of the offense, including positions of trust and confidence;

and (2) the offense was an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse of the same

victim under 18 years old manifested by multiple incidents over a

prolonged period of time. CP 13 -17.

At the November 29, 2007 hearing, the judge remarked, "I have

looked at just snippets of the proposed evidence. And I'm going to have to

use sort of a street term. I am concerned about the ability to get a jury

that's capable of viewing what I would characterize — and again, I'm using,

for lack of a better term, street language — material that is gross, okay, and

in some way not inflame them at the same time." RP (11/29/07) 17 -18.

In January 2008, Norris made another motion to recuse the judge

under RCW 4.12.040. CP 321 -33. Norris noted his earlier motion had

been denied, but stated "In recent weeks, I have learned that J. Wulle has

10-



been censured by the State's Commission on Judicial Conduct for actions

which, in part, included gratuitous and prejudicial references regarding

sexual orientation. I am charged with various sex offenses, many of which

involve homosexual acts, and given the nature of J. Wulle's prejudices, I

do not believe I will receive a fair and impartial trial before the assigned

court." CP 322.

Attached to the motion was a copy of the "Stipulation, Agreement

and Order of Censure" in the Matter of The Honorable John P. Wulle,

Judge of the Clark County Superior.Court, filed on December 7, 2007. CP

324 -33. According to the Stipulation, Agreement and Order of Censure,

the judge, while attending a 2006 training conference as a representative

of the Clark County Superior Court, engaged in the following instances of

inappropriate conduct:

1) The judge interrupted group discussions by
using profanity and expletives to express his disapproval or
indifference to pursuing federal finding for the Clark
County Juvenile Recovery Court.

2) When the facilitator assigned to the Clark
County team introduced himself to the group during the
first breakout session, he noted he was from San Francisco,
a city he characterized as very liberal and litigious. The

judge interjected "Yeah, and very gay." This comment was
gratuitous and seemed to be directed at the facilitator.

3) During the same session, the facilitator
mentioned he was required to conduct a follow -up visit
with the team in Clark County. In response, the judge
questioned out loud whether the facilitator, who is African -
American, would be welcomed in Vancouver, suggesting

11-



the community was "awfully white" and alluding to the
term "BIV." In this context, "BIV" was meant as an
acronym for " black in Vancouver," which is locally
understood by some to refer to perceived problems
historically associated with racial profiling in Vancouver.

4) Later in the week, during a break in the
conference, other faculty members asked the judge who
Clark County's facilitator was, and he answered "the black
gay guy. 

it

5) During a breakout session, the team's

facilitator wrote a star on an assignment the team
completed and jokingly said "Clark County gets a star."
The judge replied, "I don't need a star, I'm not a Jew."

6) A team member asked the judge to lower his
voice during a plenary session and he acknowledged the
request by raising his middle finger at the team member.

7) During a breakout session, the judge became
frustrated at the pace or direction of discussion and
announced it was time for the group to move on to the next
topic. When a fellow team member respectfully spoke up
to disagree, the judge angrily yelled "F - -- you," threw down
his pen and left the room. Members of the team were

shocked by the unjustified outburst. When the judge
returned to the group, he did not apologize, but rather sat in
the back and did not engage in any further discussion at
that session.`

CP 325 -27.

The judge's conduct at the conference violated former Canons 1,

2(A) and 3(A)(3) of the Code of Judicial Conduct. CP 327. Former

Canons 1 and 2(A) require judges to uphold the integrity of the judiciary

by avoiding impropriety and the appearance of impropriety and by acting

4

Several witnesses present at the conference noted they smelled an odor
of alcohol emanating from the judge. The judge denied consuming
alcohol at the, conference and suggested the odor from cough syrup may
have been misconstrued as an odor of alcohol. CP 327.
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at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity

and impartiality of the judiciary. CP 328. The judge's behavior at the

conference "created the appearance Respondent is biased or prejudiced,

and thus undermined public confidence in his integrity and impartiality."

CP 328.

The Commission censured the judge. CP 328. There were some

mitigating factors at play, but the judge failed to demonstrate any

appreciation for the seriousness of his action, never apologized for them,

minimized his responsibility and lacked personal insight into the

imprudence of his speech and behavior. CP 329. In addition, the judge's

initial response to the Commission was inaccurate and evasive in several

respects, and at minimum demonstrated lack of insight into his own

behavior. CP 330.

A hearing on Norris's second motion to recuse was held on January

25, 2008. RP (1/25/08). The prosecutor argued the second motion, like

the earlier motion, was time - barred if it sought recusal as a matter of right

under RCW 4.12.050. RP (1/25/08) 411. The prosecutor further argued

the motion did not allege any specific instance of actual prejudice germane

5 Foriner Canon 1 is now codified at Canon 1.2. Former Canon 2(A) is
now codified, with modified language, at Canon 2.2. Former Canon

3(A)(3), now codified as Canon 2.8(B), requires judges to be patient,
dignified and courteous to all persons with whom they deal in their official
capacity. CP 328.
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to Norris's case. RP (1/25/08) 411 -15. The prosecutor remarked "if the

Court is looking at a decision where there is an appearance of unfairness,

then the Court -- I understand why the Court would want to -- want to take

a -- a moment." RP (1/25/08) 415. According to the prosecutor, Norris

could not point to a decision tainted by an appearance of unfairness, but

rather "just the fact that some of the conduct he's engaged in may be of a

concern to -- to Your Honor based on things that occurred not in a judicial

setting." RP (1/25/08) 415 -16.

In response, defense counsel said he did not want to address the

matter in this context, but the prosecutor forced his hand in being

unwilling to address the issue quietly and discreetly. RP (1/25/08) 416 -17.

The Commission determination "affects the overall totality in this case and

the appearance of fairness based upon the nature of his offenses, the nature

of his act." RP (1/25/08) 417.

The judge denied the motion to recuse, stating, "For the record, I

would duly note the attachment stipulation page 6. I suggest that people

read line 9 through line 15. " RP (1/25/08) 418 -19. The judge expressed

G
Page 6, lines 9 through 15 read "In mitigation, Respondent's conduct

appears to have been an aberration. He believes the conduct occurred as a
result of misguided attempts to fit in with the team and/or be humorous.
Witnesses familiar with Respondent described his behavior at the
conference as being out of character. These witnesses do not believe

Respondent to be racist, homophobic or anti - Semitic. Respondent's
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that he prided himself on bending over backwards to treat everyone fairly,

that he bent over backwards to make sure Norris had adequate

representation and resources, that he had erred on the side of protecting

the rights of the defendant, and he would continue to do so. RP (1/25/08)

419. The judge further stated "I have made discretionary rulings in this

case; therefore, the motion is denied." RP (1/25/08) 419.

On February 4, 2008, the judge held a hearing during which the

State went step -by -step through the video and photographic evidence it

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