NO. 43927-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

MICHAEL SCOTT NORRIS, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.06-1-01550-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

C. ARGUMENT

I. NORRIS RECEIVED A FAIR TRIAL AND THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO RECUSE HIMSELF.

Norris claims his trial court judge had a duty to recuse himself because of actual or potential bias. Norris alleges the judge harbored prejudice against Norris because Norris engaged in "homosexual" activities by sexually abusing a child who was male, and that the judge had an improper emotional reaction to the evidence which proves the judge's bias against Norris. The trial judge gave Norris a fair trial and ensured his rights were protected. Norris' claims of actual or potential bias are without merit.

A criminal defendant has a due process right to a fair trial by an impartial judge. Wash. Const. art. I, sec 22; U.S. Const. Amends VI, XIV. The fair administration of justice, and the public's confidence in the administration of justice requires the appearance of fairness and actual fairness. *State v. Dugan*, 96 Wn. App. 346, 354, 979 P.2d 885 (1999).

A judge should disqualify him or herself in any proceeding in which his or her impartiality might reasonably be questioned. Former Canon of Judicial Conduct 3(D)(1) (now codified as Canon 2.11(A)). This

includes any instance where the judge has a personal bias or prejudice against one party. *Id.* On review, appellate courts apply a reasonable person test, finding no judicial bias when a reasonable person, who knows and understands all the relevant facts would conclude the parties received a fair hearing. *See Sherman v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 164, 206, 905 P.2d 355 (1995) (quoting *In re Drexel Burnham Lambert Inc.*. 861 F.2d 1307, 1313 (2d Cir. 1988)). But the law does not simply require an impartial judge, the judge must also appear to be impartial. *State v. Post*, 118 Wn.2d 596, 618, 826 P.2d 172. *modified by* 837 P.2d 599 (1992) (quoting *State v. Madry*, 8 Wn. App. 61, 70, 504 P.2d 1156 (1972)). A perceived bias must result from an actual personal interest in the outcome. *Id.* at 619. The personal interest must be real, but the resulting bias from that personal interest may only be perceived. *See, e.g., id.* at 618.

The burden is on Norris to support his claim of judicial bias with evidence of the judge's actual or potential bias. First, Norris claims the trial judge was biased because of extra-judicial comments he had made in the past regarding homosexual persons. Norris himself did not engage in "homosexual" activities by raping and molesting a child. Norris engaged in pedophilic activities. Even if the judge had a bias against homosexual persons, that bias would not have extended to Norris, as Norris did not represent himself to be a homosexual male, but instead, the judge was

presented with evidence, including stipulated admissions by Norris, that he engaged in pedophilic criminal activities. CP 116. There is a significant difference and distinction between pedophilic activities and homosexual activities. Further, there is nothing in the record to support Norris' claim that the judge was biased against him due to his sexual orientation, and Norris has pointed to nothing more than the trial court's extra-judicial comment, which all involved say was out-of-character for the judge. CP 329. This allegation is not supported by evidence of the judge's actual or potential bias regarding Norris or his case.

Second, Norris' claim that the judge had a personal bias against him because of his reaction to seeing the photographs and movies of Norris raping two children is without merit. Though the trial judge did make unfortunate remarks, these remarks in no way were directed at Norris or showed the judge's opinion of Norris as a person or of his case. He simply was expressing an opinion about graphic evidence he saw. Just as a judge who expresses distaste for graphic photos of a murder scene is not necessarily biased against the defendant in that case, neither was Judge Wulle biased against Norris due to his viewing of the photographs in Norris' case. Though obscene in the extreme, the record shows Judge Wulle remained impartial and went to great lengths to provide Norris with a fair trial.

The State agrees with Norris that judges "are held to a higher standard." Am. Br. Of Appellant at 26. It is clear from the outcome of this case, that Judge Wulle held himself to this higher standard and put his own personal feelings aside and decided the case based on the evidence and the law. At sentencing on this matter, Judge Wulle expressed the outrageousness of Norris' crimes. 3RP at 103. He expressed the heinous nature of what Norris did to his victims and indicated he believed Norris deserved a life sentence. *Id.* A life sentence was within the court's discretion to give. However, being fair to Norris and to all the parties, the judge sentenced Norris to the agreed recommended sentence. *Id.* Norris received exactly what he bargained for: a 35 years to life sentence. *Id*; CP 128.

This case is similar in nature to *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 225 P.3d 973 (2010). In *Gamble*, the judge in defendant Alexander's case mentioned he was disturbed by the facts of the case as they involved a father's abuse of his child. 168 Wn.2d at 188. The Supreme Court found "nothing improper in the court's remarks at the time and in the context in which they were made." *Id.* The trial court judge in Norris' case did essentially the same thing the judge in defendant Alexander's case did in *Gamble. supra*. The facts of Norris' case are disturbing. Even more disturbing than hearing or reading the facts would be watching the videos

and seeing over a hundred photographs depicting Norris raping and molesting two young children. It was reasonable for the trial judge to have an emotional reaction to viewing such depictions. Though the trial court's repeated commentary on the subject was ill-advised, those comments alone do not vitiate the fairness this judge showed Norris throughout the proceedings. As Judge Wulle stated,

I have bent over backwards, if I can steal a phrase from Mr. Harvey, to do everything I can to make sure Mr. Spencer (sic) has adequate representation—excuse me, Mr. Norris has adequate representation, has the opportunity to be heard on the issues and everything I could think of to make sure it was fair to him.

3RP at 25. Judge Wulle did not violate the appearance of fairness doctrine and Norris received a fair trial.

In further support that Norris received a fair trial by an impartial judge is the fact that he waived his right to a jury trial and agreed to allow the trial court to hear the case, knowing that the judge had made the comments about the evidence, and knowing the judge's comments regarding homosexuality. This choice to have Judge Wulle sit as the finder of fact shows Norris and his defense attorney did not truly believe that Judge Wulle was biased against Norris. This evidences the fact that "a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would conclude" that Norris received a fair, impartial and neutral trial as Norris himself could not have

believed the judge to be biased against him if he was willing to allow the court to hear the case instead of a jury. See State v. Bilal, 77 Wn. App. 720, 722, 893 P.2d 674 (1995) (quoting State v. Ladenburg, 67 Wn. App. 749, 754-55, 840 P.3d 228 (1992)).

All the facts and circumstances taken in context of the entire posture of the case show that Norris received a fair trial, his constitutional rights were not violated and the trial judge was fair and impartial. Norris was properly convicted of all the crimes and received a sentence to which he agreed. Norris' claims that the trial judge was biased against him and he should receive a new trial are without merit.

II. THE STATE AGREES AND CONCEDES NORRIS' SENTENCE ON COUNT 9 IS IMPROPER

Norris alleges the trial court exceeded its sentencing authority in sentencing him to a term above the maximum penalty for Child Molestation in the Second degree as charged in Count 9. The State agrees and this court should remand for resentencing on Count 9.

RCW 9A.20.021(1) provides the maximum sentence for a class B felony is 10 years. Child Molestation in the Second Degree is a Class B felony. RCW 9A.44.086(2). In Norris' case, the court imposed a sentence of 420 months on Count 9, a class B felony. This sentence clearly exceeds the statutory maximum sentence and exceeded the trial court's sentencing

authority. The appropriate remedy in such a situation is to vacate the improper portion of the sentence and remand for resentencing on that portion. *State v. Eilts*, 94 Wn.2d 489, 496, 617 P.2d 993 (1980).

Therefore, the State agrees this Court should reverse Norris' sentence on Count 9, Child Molestation in the Second Degree, and remand for resentencing with directions to ensure the sentence does not exceed the maximum 10 year available sentence.

III. THE STATE AGREES AND CONCEDES THAT NORRIS' TOTAL SENTENCE ON COUNT 8 EXCEEDS THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM SENTENCE

Norris alleges the trial court exceeded its sentencing authority in sentencing him to a combined term of prison and community custody above the maximum penalty of 10 years for Count 8. The State agrees and this court should remand for resentencing on Count 8.

Count 8 is also a conviction for child Molestation in the Second Degree, a Class B felony. CP 127. Child Molestation in the Second Degree, as a class B felony, has a maximum sentence of 10 years. RCW 9A.20.021(1); 9A.44.086(2). By imposing a prison sentence of 120 months and community custody of 36 months, the trial court exceeded its sentencing authority in giving Norris a sentence above the statutory maximum for this crime. A defendant's prison term and community custody term together cannot exceed the statutory maximums sentence.

See State v. Winborne, 167 Wn. App. 320, 329, 273 P.3d 454, rev. denied, 174 Wn.2d 1019 (2012).

This case should be remanded for resentencing on Count 8 to ensure that Norris does not receive a sentence above the statutory maximum for Child Molestation in the Second Degree.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND NORRIS HAD THE ABILITY TO PAY AND PROPERLY IMPOSED LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

Norris argues the trial court improperly found he had a current or future ability to pay towards his legal financial obligations. However, the trial court had sufficient facts upon which to base such a finding. The trial court's finding was proper and should be affirmed.

Norris does not distinguish between mandatory and discretionary legal financial obligations in his arguments. This distinction is important. For mandatory legal financial obligations, the legislature has divested courts of the discretion to consider a defendant's ability to pay when imposing these legal financial obligations. The legislature has directed expressly that a defendant's ability to pay should not be taken into account for victim restitution, victim assessments, DNA fees and criminal filing fees. *See, e.g., State v. Kuster*, 175 Wn. App. 420, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013). Norris' total financial obligations are outlined on pages 7 and 8 of his judgment and sentence. CP 148-49. The \$500.00 victim assessment is

required by RCW 7.68.035(1)(a), the \$100.00 DNA collection fee is required by RCW 43.43.7541, and the \$200.00 filing fee is required by RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) irrespective of the defendant's ability to pay. *See State v. Curry*, 62 Wn. App. 676, 680-81, 814 P.2d 1252 (1991), *aff'd*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992); *State v. Thompson*, 153 Wn. App. 325, 336, 223 P.3d 1165 (2009).

For the discretionary legal financial obligations, such as court costs and fees, the trial court must consider the defendant's present or likely future ability to pay. Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 915-16. RCW 10.01.160, the statute codifying our State's court costs and fee structure does not "require[] a trial court to enter formal, specific findings regarding a defendant's ability to pay [discretionary] court costs." *Id.* at 916. This finding may be reviewed on appeal under the clearly erroneous standard. State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404, n. 13, 267 P.3d 511 (2011) (quoting State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. 303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116 (1991), modified by 837 P.2d 646 (1992)). A trial court's finding is "clearly erroneous" when "review of all the evidence leads to a 'definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." Schryvers v. Coulee Cmty. Hosp., 138 Wn. App. 648, 654, 158 P.3d 113 (2007) (quoting Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County, 141 Wn.2d 169, 176, 4 P.3d 123 (2000)). There was evidence in the record in Norris' case to support a finding that he has the likely future ability to pay towards his

legal financial obligations. The trial court did not clearly err in making this finding and it should not be disturbed.

The trial court was aware of facts contained in the pre-sentence investigation report. This report shows Norris had a bachelor's of science degree in allied health and medical technology. CP 302. He spent most of his adult life working in the area of medical technology. Id. He was working at the time of his arrest in this case. *Id.* Though Norris is correct in pointing out in his brief that he has declared bankruptcy in the past, he fails to mention that this was due to his own problems managing money and not a lack of ability to earn money, and that the foreclosure on his home was due to his arrest and incarceration in this case. Id. The State's burden in establishing whether a defendant has the present or likely future ability to pay discretionary legal financial obligations is a low one. See e.g., State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. at 312. In Baldwin, the court upheld the finding of ability to pay based on one statement contained in a presentence report that the defendant described himself as employable and should be held accountable for legal financial obligations. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. at 311.

As in *Baldwin*, the fact of Norris' employability is sufficient to support the trial court's finding of his ability to pay. Based on the fact that immediately prior to being arrested on his current offense Norris had been employed shows that he is employable and should be held accountable for the legal financial obligations imposed by the court. The State met the

burden of establishing Norris' ability to pay. Norris' allegation that the finding of ability to pay was entered without factual support is without merit.

Even if this court finds that the trial court's finding was clearly erroneous, the remedy is simply that the trial court must make a finding at a later time of Norris' ability to pay prior to collecting any of the discretionary legal financial obligations. In State v. Bertrand, supra, the Court of Appeals held the trial court's finding that the defendant had the ability to pay was clearly erroneous because the trial court did not 'take into account the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden' imposed by LFOs..." Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. at 404 (citing State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. at 312). However, even though it was erroneous for the trial court to make that finding, and the Court of Appeals reversed that finding, the Court of Appeals did not strike or reverse the imposition of legal financial obligations. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. at 405. The Court held in *Bertrand*, *supra*, that the trial court must make a determination at a later time that the defendant is able to pay before any of the financial obligations may be collected. *Id.* at fn 16. The more appropriate and "meaningful time to examine the defendant's ability to pay is when the government seeks to collect the obligation." Baldwin, 63 Wn. App at 310 (citing State v. Curry, 62 Wn. App. at 680).

Norris' argument that the finding of the trial court of his ability to pay should be vacated is without merit. The finding was based on evidence within the record below and this evidence met the low threshold of proof required to show Norris has a future ability to pay. The trial court's finding of his ability to pay should be affirmed.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The State agrees that this case should be remanded for resentencing on Counts 8 and 9. The trial judge was not biased or prejudiced against Norris and the trial court properly found Norris has the present ability to pay. Apart from the sentences on counts 8 and 9, the trial court should be affirmed in all respects.

DATED this 28th day of October, 2013.

Respectfully submitted:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK

Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County, Washington

By:

RACHAELA: PROBSTFELD

WSBA #37878

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

CLARK COUNTY PROSECUTOR October 28, 2013 - 4:34 PM

Transmittal Letter

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